

AVTECTA to SOA; 1/7/2025

PREAMBLE

This Agreement is made and entered into by and between the State of Alaska and the Alaska Vocational Technical Center Teachers' Association (AVTECTA) covering employees of the Alaska Vocational Technical Center ~~Alaska's Institute of Technology~~ (AVTEC) whose duties include program development and delivery, counseling, media services and job development. The terms and conditions contained herein are effective except as otherwise agreed and specified in writing.

It is the policy of the Employer and AVTECTA to continue harmonious and cooperative relationships between the parties to insure the orderly and uninterrupted operations of the Alaska Vocational Technical Center and to provide quality educational services to the students served. This Agreement is effectuated by the provisions of the Public Employment Relations Act, AS 23.40, granting the bargaining unit members the rights of organization and collective bargaining concerning the determination of terms and conditions of their employment.

AG

TA - 1/8/20205; 1:00pm

ARTICLE 1 ASSOCIATION RECOGNITION AND REPRESENTATION

Section 1: Exclusive Recognition

The State of Alaska, hereinafter referred to as the Employer, recognizes the Alaska Vocational Technical Center Teachers' Association - National Education Association, hereinafter referred to as the AVTECTA, AVTECTA/NEA or the Association, as the exclusive representative of all Bargaining Unit Members in the AVTECTA for collective bargaining with respect to salaries, wages, hours, and other terms and conditions of employment.

A Bargaining Unit Member in this Agreement shall mean a person in State service who is paid a salary or wage and holds a position 1) whose duties include planning, instructing and/or providing counseling and/or librarian duties, or 2) that has been agreed to by mutual consent of the parties or 3) which has been certified by the Alaska Labor Relations Agency (ALRA) or a subsequent court of competent jurisdiction.

Section 2: Exclusive Representation

The Employer will not negotiate or handle grievances with any individual or Bargaining Unit Member organization other than the Association with respect to terms and conditions of employment of bargaining unit members in the AVTECTA/NEA. No other individuals or organizations may represent bargaining unit members in negotiations, grievances or other matters pertaining to the employer/bargaining unit member relationship.

AG TA 2/4/2025

SR TA 2/4/2025

AVTECTA to SOA; 1/29/25

ARTICLE 2 ASSOCIATION REPRESENTATIVES AND ACTIVITIES

Section 1: Association Representatives

The President of AVTECTA/NEA shall be authorized to speak for the Association in all matters governed by this Agreement. The President, or any other AVTECTA officer, or if the President is unavailable, the Vice President, shall be allowed a reasonable amount of time to handle complaints and grievances under this Agreement with no loss in compensation. The President shall provide a list of AVTECTA officers to the director annually, and any time there is a change, and those officers may be designated in writing to the Employer a designee to speak on behalf of the Association.

No bargaining unit member shall suffer discrimination, jeopardy or coercion in employment or promotion opportunity because of Association membership and/or Association activities.

Association representatives who are not bargaining unit members shall be authorized to speak for the Association in all matters governed by this Agreement and shall be permitted to visit any work area at any time with prior approval of the Employer. Approval shall not be unreasonably withheld or delayed.

The State communications system is the property of the Employer. The Association shall have the right to use State electronic mail, in accordance with the State of Alaska Technology Policy (subject to change), in order to disseminate Association information within the Bargaining Unit. Emails regarding pending legislation or in-progress partisan election campaigns shall be non-positional, but may direct members to a website link. The Association shall have the right to use State electronic mail for Association/Employer communications. Bargaining unit members may use their state computer to communicate with each other, and/or the Association, provided such use does not interfere with official state use, and/or the performance of the bargaining unit member's job duties.

The Association shall have the right to use school facilities for meetings and school office equipment, such as computers, printers, and copiers, during non-use hours, providing that the AVTEC Administration office is notified in advance and office equipment or facilities are not already scheduled or in use. The Association shall pay for the cost of all materials and supplies incidental to such use, and shall pay the unit cost associated with the use of duplicating equipment.

Association representatives shall be permitted to transact official business on AVTEC property. Such business shall not interrupt bargaining unit members in their work responsibilities.

Section 2: Steward Time

The Employer recognizes that, from time to time, it may be necessary for the Association to handle grievances, complaints, or other issues of contract administration during working hours. To this end the Association shall be provided a total of four (4) hours per pay period for use by its President or designated representative for handling such issues during working hours. Such time is cumulative up to eight (8) hours per month.

A leave slip will be prepared and submitted to the AVTEC Administration office for accounting purposes. If possible the leave slip will be presented in advance however when not feasible, a leave slip will be prepared and forwarded to management within a reasonable period of time within the

~~affected pay period. All time spent in such activities shall be recorded on a State form which clearly identifies the activity as release time. If the use of this time requires a substitute, the AVTEC Administration office will provide an instructor. the Department Head will arrange coverage for instructional duties, which may require contacting AVTEC Administration to provide a substitute. to cover class(es).~~

AVTECTA to SOA; 1/14/2025

KA TA 1/16/2025 4:30pm

**ARTICLE 3
ASSOCIATION
SECURITY**

Section 1: Agency Shop

The Association owes the same responsibility of representation to all AVTECTA/NEA bargaining unit members without respect to membership in the association.

Section 2: Payroll Deductions

A. Check-off

Upon receipt by the Employer of a check-off authorization dated and executed by the bargaining unit member with sufficient identifying information that includes the bargaining unit member's social security number, the Employer shall each pay period deduct from the bargaining unit member's wages the amount of the Association membership dues owed for that month. The Employer will forward the monies so deducted to the Association together with a list of bargaining unit members from whose wages such monies were deducted not later than ten (10) days after deduction. The Employer shall deduct from a bargaining unit member's wages only that amount of money that the Association has certified in writing is the amount of semi-monthly dues.

- B. The AVTECTA/NEA President shall notify the Director of the Division of Finance in writing of any increase or decrease in authorized dues at least thirty (30) calendar days prior to the effective date of the rate changes.

Section 3: Employer Indemnification

The Association shall defend, indemnify, and save the Employer harmless against any and all claims, demands, suits, grievances, or other liability (including attorney's fees incurred by the Employer) that arise out of or by reason of actions taken by the Employer pursuant to this article, except those actions caused by the Employer's negligence.

Section 4: Notification

At the time of job offer, the candidate will be apprised by the Employer that they s/he work under a collective bargaining agreement. The employer will provide new employees the website address for the State of Alaska, Department of Administration, Division of Personnel and Labor Relations and AVTECTA contact information.

The Employer shall provide all new employees an orientation, and shall provide to the Association at least ten (10) days' notice of all new employee orientations, whenever possible. One hour of paid time shall be provided during all new employee orientations for Association leadership to share Association membership and contract information.

Once each pay period the Employer shall furnish to the Union without cost a report showing all personnel transactions adding to or deleting bargaining unit members from the bargaining unit.

AG

TA - 1/8/20205; 1:00pm

ARTICLE 4 MANAGEMENT'S RIGHTS

It is recognized that the Employer retains the right to manage its affairs, to determine the kind and nature of work to be performed and to direct the work force except as otherwise specifically provided in this Agreement. Such functions, rights, powers and authority of the Employer not specifically abridged, delegated or modified by this Agreement are recognized by AVTECTA as being retained by the Employer. Such functions include, but are not limited to:

- A. Recruit, examine, select, promote, transfer and train personnel of its choosing, and determine the times and methods of such actions;
- B. Assign and direct the work force; designate types of classes to be taught and assign personnel to those classes;
- C. Discipline, suspend, demote or dismiss bargaining unit members for just cause, and;
- D. Establish reasonable work rules and assign the hours of work.

ARTICLE 5
PERSONAL FREEDOM

In the exercise of their private affairs, bargaining unit members shall enjoy the rights guaranteed within this Article.

A. The Employer may not directly or indirectly:

1. require or coerce any bargaining unit members to participate in any way in any activity or undertaking unless the activity or undertaking is related to the performance of official duties;
2. require or coerce any bargaining unit member to make any report concerning any of their ~~his/her~~ activities or undertakings unless the activity or undertaking is related to the performance of their ~~his/her~~ official duties;
3. except as directly related to the performance of the bargaining unit member's official duties, and only in cases where there is suspected misconduct, require any bargaining unit member to submit to any interrogation or examination or psychological test that is designed to elicit ~~from him/her~~ information concerning:
 - a. any ~~his/her~~ personal relationship with any person connected ~~with him/her~~ by blood or marriage,
 - b. ~~his/her~~ religious beliefs or practices,
 - c. sexual matters and orientation,
 - d. ~~his/her~~ political affiliation or philosophy;
4. coerce any bargaining unit member to invest or contribute their ~~his/her~~ earnings in any manner or for any purpose;
5. restrict or attempt to restrict after-working-hour statements, pronouncements, or other activities, not otherwise prohibited by law, of any bargaining unit member, if the bargaining unit member does not purport to speak or act in an official capacity.

B. A bargaining unit member is free to express to administrators or other bargaining unit members, professional opinions or suggestions that are in disagreement with those of the administrators or other bargaining unit members without fear of disciplinary action.

AG

TA - 1/8/20205; 1:00pm

ARTICLE 6
ACADEMIC FREEDOM

Bargaining unit members shall be guaranteed full freedom in instruction and the selection of instructional materials and methodologies within the outlines of the appropriate course content and within the planned instructional program.

ARTICLE 7
NO STRIKE CLAUSE

- A. The Association agrees that during the life of this Agreement, neither the Association nor its agents or bargaining unit members will authorize, instigate, aid or engage in any work stoppage, slowdown, sickout, refusal to work, picketing, sympathy strike or strike against the Employer. The State recognizes the bargaining unit members' right to strike following mediation and a strike authorization vote conducted according to law.
- B. The Association recognizes that the continuity of certain work is imperative to the public service mission of the Employer and if a work stoppage should occur, management and all other personnel not covered by this Agreement shall be permitted to perform their duties without restraint, coercion or interference by the Association, its agents or its members.
- C. The Employer on its behalf agrees that at no time during the term of this Agreement will they cause a lockout to occur.

ARTICLE 8
NONDISCRIMINATION AND AFFIRMATIVE ACTION

The parties agree that should a dispute arise involving this article, such dispute is not subject to Article 15 grievance arbitration and will be handled through other appropriate agencies.

Section 1: Non-discrimination

The parties agree not to unlawfully discriminate in employment and membership and will use all due diligence to ensure that bargaining unit members are selected, appointed and promoted from among the most qualified and not on the basis of race, color, religion, national origin, age, sex, sexual orientation, gender identity, disability, marital status, change in marital status, pregnancy, parenthood, political affiliation or belief, or union affiliation, or otherwise as specified in law.

Section 2: Affirmative Action

The Employer shall provide the Association with copies of affirmative action plans or programs upon request.

ARTICLE 9
LABOR MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE

When deemed appropriate by either the Association or management, a labor management committee shall be convened consisting of the Director, and two (2) management representatives and the President of the Association and two (2) bargaining unit members. The purpose of this committee shall be to discuss areas of mutual concern or problems and to make recommendations regarding the operations of AVTEC. It is understood that labor management committee meetings are not to be used for negotiations. Meetings will be scheduled at mutually agreeable times. Association business leave shall not be assessed for participation of the Association members.

ARTICLE 10 EMPLOYMENT STATUS

Section 1: Definition of Positions

Bargaining unit members' positions continue from year to year and the bargaining unit member remains the incumbent except for circumstances as provided for in the layoff or discipline articles.

Section 2: Permanent Appointment

An appointment to a position in the bargaining unit shall become permanent upon the bargaining unit member's satisfactory completion of the probationary period.

Section 3: Probationary Period

Objective

The probationary period in the bargaining unit shall be utilized for closely observing the bargaining unit member's work, to assure the most effective adjustment to the position, and for retaining only those bargaining unit members whose performance meets the required standards.

Duration

Any new bargaining unit member shall be subject to a probationary period ~~comparable to~~ of one full calendar school year from the date of hire. The bargaining unit member in probationary status who does not satisfactorily complete the probationary period may appeal the termination through the Complaint Procedure.

ARTICLE 11 TRANSFERS

- A. Bargaining unit members who are transferred to duty assignments at locations other than their current assignment, for a period in excess of forty-five (45) work days, will be paid in accordance with the geographic differential for the majority of State employees in that area. When a transfer is made by the AVTEC Administration for the “good of the service” without voluntary consent of the employee, the Director of the Division of Personnel ~~and Labor Relations~~ must approve such a transfer. The AVTEC Administration shall provide affected bargaining unit members with at least one hundred twenty (120) calendar days written notice of an impending transfer.
- B. If a bargaining unit member is transferred to an area that, due to geographic differential, would result in a pay reduction, no reduction in the bargaining unit member’s salary will be made for one calendar year from the date of transfer.
- C. If the spouse of a bargaining unit member who is transferred for the “good of the service” in accordance with this section is also a bargaining unit member, ~~the spouse or she~~ shall be granted out-of-order layoff rights to ~~their~~ ~~his/her~~ current job class pursuant to Article 12.

AG TA; 1/25/2025
SR TA: 1/27/2025

12.2 AVTECTA to SOA; 1/23/2025

ARTICLE 12 LAYOFF

Section 1: Reason for Lay Off

A reduction in force resulting in the layoff of bargaining unit members may occur due to financial necessity. Prior to a decision regarding course or program cancellations, resulting in a reduction in force, the Association president may request to meet and confer with the AVTEC director, or their designee, regarding the situation and provide options for consideration. Regardless of the reason for a reduction in force, the parties acknowledge that layoff decisions are outside the member's control and do not reflect discredit on the services of the member.

Section 2: Seniority

Seniority means a bargaining unit member's total number of days assigned to work reflected in an instructor's calendar. Seniority shall accrue from the bargaining unit member's date of hire with AVTEC as a bargaining unit member.

- A. Time spent on any paid leave shall count toward seniority.
- B. Thirty (30 days), or and when possible sixty (60) calendar days prior to any anticipated layoff, the Director, or designee, will publish and distribute to all bargaining unit members a seniority list ranking each member from the greatest to the least seniority by department, assigned instructional program(s), and qualified instruction program(s). For the purpose of a seniority list, positions moved to a different department will be considered in the original department for one year following the move. It shall be the responsibility of the member to bring to the Director's attention within fifteen (15) working days of posting any disputed seniority ranking.
- C. In calculating seniority for layoff purposes, if an employee's evaluation, covering a period after July 1, 2022, is overall less than mid-acceptable, then, for the purposes of layoff seniority, the employee will not receive seniority credit for the period covered by that evaluation.

Section 3: Order of Layoff

- A. Priority 1 – Instructional Area and Department
Bargaining unit members are qualified for seniority within their own department and current instructional program(s). Or:
- B. Priority 2 – Department
In the event a bargaining unit member is qualified to teach another current instructional program offering within their department, and such qualification is established within 10 working days of layoff notices being issued, the member in the department with the least seniority in the applicable instructional program will be bumped. Or:
- C. Priority 3 – Institution
In the event a bargaining unit member is qualified to teach another current instructional program offering within AVTEC, and such qualification is established within 10 working days of layoff notices being issued, the member with the least seniority in the applicable instructional program will be bumped.

It is the bargaining unit member's responsibility to notify AVTEC Administration of their qualifications to instructional programs outside their immediate instructional area. Qualifications to teach in another program area must be approved by AVTEC Administration and such qualifications shall not be greater than the minimum qualifications necessary to teach the instructional program.

In the event of more than one bargaining unit member having the same seniority ranking, the order of layoff shall be determined by a coin toss with the winner being the most senior.

Section 4: Notification

In every case of the layoff of a Bargaining Unit Member, the appointing authority shall make every effort to give written notice to the member at least sixty (60) calendar days in advance of the effective date of layoff. The appointing authority shall give at least thirty (30) working days written notice. In both cases, the Employer shall notify the Association concurrently.

It shall be the responsibility of each laid off bargaining unit member to notify the Department of Administration, Division of Finance, DOP&LR Payroll Services office of any change in address.

Section 5: Recall

- A. Bargaining unit members who are laid off shall be recalled to open positions for which they are qualified. Vacant positions will be offered to the most senior qualified member first.
- B. Bargaining unit members recalled from layoff will be returned to the same salary placement and status prior to layoff.
- C. Bargaining unit members laid off shall be recalled to positions for which they are qualified. If a Bargaining Unit member is recalled to a different position, the recalled member will maintain layoff rights to the position from which they were originally laid off.
- D. Bargaining unit members in layoff status shall be offered substitute employment within the bargaining unit before any other person is offered such an assignment. Acceptance of substitute employment shall not jeopardize any rights or benefits under this Article.

Section 6: Length of Layoff Eligibility

Bargaining unit members will remain on the recall list for 24 months from the date of layoff unless the member:

- 1. Fails to provide the Employer with a current mailing address, which causes the notice to be undelivered or undeliverable.
- 2. Fails to respond to an offer, which shall be sent by certified mail, return receipt requested, within fourteen (14) days of date of mailing.
- 3. Refuses a comparable position.

If a bargaining unit member rejects a position for which they are he or she is qualified, and such position is offered consistent with the aforementioned provisions of the Article, the member shall be considered to have resigned from their his or her teaching position.

AG TA 1/16/2025

KA TA 1/16/2025 4:30pm

ARTICLE 13 PERSONNEL DISCIPLINE

Bargaining Unit Members shall be disciplined only for just cause, which whenever possible will be administered in private.

A copy of written disciplinary action(s) shall be provided to the Association and one shall be placed in the employee's personnel file, along with the individual's response, if one is made and is not part of a grievance. The specific grounds forming the basis for disciplinary actions will be made available to the employee and AVTECTA.

In the event of a suspension without pay or more serious discipline, the Bargaining Unit Member shall be notified in writing of the reason(s) for such suspension, with a copy to the Association.

Discipline will be administered in a prompt manner consistent with just cause standards.

If a Bargaining Unit Member has been notified in advance, or has substantive reason to believe, that discipline will be administered, the Bargaining Unit Member may request, and is entitled to receive, a reasonable period of time to secure the presence of an Association representative.

The Association will be given notice of all disciplinary actions taken against a bargaining unit member. The AVTEC Administration will attempt to notify a bargaining unit member of the right to request union representation prior to any disciplinary meeting.

ARTICLE 14 COMPLAINT PROCEDURE

Section 1: Individual Complaints

- A. A complaint is defined as: (1) any controversy, dispute or disagreement arising between the Association or a bargaining unit member and the Employer that does not concern the application or interpretation of the terms of this Agreement other than terms for which the complaint procedure has been specifically provided as the alternative dispute resolution process, or (2) is the appeal of the discharge of a probationary bargaining unit member. The following shall be the sole means of settling complaints.
- B. A complaint must be brought to the attention of the Employer, consistent with the procedures set forth in this Article, within twenty (20) working days of the effective action or inaction or the date the bargaining unit member is made aware of the action or inaction, whichever is later, to receive the assistance of the Association and the use of this procedure. Deadlines for submission of a complaint at succeeding steps shall be counted from the date of receipt of a response from the Employer, or the date the response is due, whichever is earlier. Date of receipt of a complaint or response shall be either seven (7) working days following the date of the postmark or the date of a signed verification of receipt.
- C. If the Employer fails to render a decision within the allotted time, the complaint may be advanced to the next step by the Association. Allotted time frames may be extended by mutual agreement in writing.
- D. Complaints shall be processed on forms provided by the Employer.
- E. The complaint must state the facts from which it arises, the rules, procedures or conditions that should be considered and the remedy requested. Adjustments to complaints shall not conflict with this Agreement or applicable written policies, laws or regulations.
- F. Appeals shall be in writing with a copy of the original complaint attached.
- G. Procedure:
 - 1. Complaints will be presented on the provided forms by the bargaining unit member or Association to the Director. The complaint may be adjusted with or without the participation of the Association provided that the complainant has not been denied the opportunity of representation. Within ten (10) working days of receipt, the Director shall schedule a meeting with the complainant. The Director will render a decision in writing within seven (7) working days of that meeting. The Director will notify the Association concurrent with the notification to the complainant.
 - 2. If the response is unsatisfactory, the Association may appeal to the Department of Administration, Division of Personnel ~~and Labor Relations~~, Employee Relations Manager within ten (10) working days after the Director's response is due or received. The Employee Relations Program Manager/designee shall schedule a meeting or teleconference with the complainant within ten (10) working days of receipt of the appeal. Within seven (7) working days of that meeting, the Employee Relations Program Manager/designee shall issue a

decision regarding the appeal.

Section 2: Group Complaints

The Association may file group complaints when the issue involves more than one (1) complainant. Time limits and procedures shall be as for individual complaints set out above.

AG TA - 3/7/2025

SR TA - 3/9/2025

AVTECTA to SOA: Supposal A 3/7/2025 (same as 1/30/25)

ARTICLE 15
GRIEVANCE - ARBITRATION

Section 1: Definitions

- A. A grievance shall be defined as any controversy or dispute involving the application or interpretation of the terms of this Agreement arising between the Association or bargaining unit member(s) and the Employer.
- B. The grievant(s) is (are) the bargaining unit member(s) or the Association pursuing the controversy or dispute through the grievance-arbitration procedure.

Section 2: Purpose

The parties agree that they will promptly attempt to adjust all grievances arising between them. The purpose of the procedure described herein is to secure, at the lowest possible level, mutually agreeable solutions to the grievances that may, from time to time, arise between the parties. The parties agree that these proceedings will be kept as confidential as may be appropriate at any level of the procedure.

Within the framework of this Agreement, the grievant and/or the Association shall use the following procedure as the sole means of settling said grievances. It is further agreed that the parties covered herein shall be bound, consistent with the terms of this Article, by any written decisions, determinations, agreements or settlements that may be effectuated through this grievance-arbitration procedure.

Section 3: General Provisions

- A. Any grievance must be brought to the attention of the Employer, consistent with the procedures set forth in this Article, within thirty (30) working days of the date the bargaining unit member first knew of or first received notice of the disputed action or inaction upon which the grievance is based, whichever is later, to receive use of the grievance procedure. A dismissal or suspension grievance must be brought to the attention of the Employer through the Association within fifteen (15) working days of the effective date, or the date the bargaining unit member becomes aware of the action, whichever is later, to receive the use of the grievance procedure.

It is agreed that all grievances resulting from dismissal of a bargaining unit member covered by this Agreement shall be entered into the procedure at Level Two.

- B. Throughout the grievance procedure, the number of days indicated at each level should be considered as a maximum and every effort should be made to expedite the process. The time limits specified may be extended by mutual agreement. The time limits for submission of a grievance at Level Two shall be counted from the date of receipt of the response from the Employer or the date the response is due, whichever is earlier. The time limits for a response to a grievance shall be counted from the date of receipt of the grievance from the grievant.

Date of receipt of a grievance or response shall be seven (7) calendar days following the date of postmark or the date of a signed verification of receipt, whichever is earlier.

- C. If the Employer does not comply in rendering a decision within the allotted time after the grievance is submitted, such failure shall entitle the Association to take the grievance to the next level of the grievance procedure. Grievance not advanced within the time frames

provided or altered by mutual agreement will not be considered active.

- D. A meeting may be held at any level upon mutual agreement of the parties. If a meeting is held, an Association representative may be present.
- E. If a designated representative of the Association attends a grievance meeting or hearing during the working day, they s/he will, upon notice to the Employer, be granted reasonable accommodation for release Steward time, without loss of pay, to permit participation in the activities described above. A bargaining unit member whose appearance in such investigations, meetings or hearings as a witness will be accorded the same rights in accordance with other Articles of this Agreement.
- F. No reprisals of any kind will be taken by the Employer against a bargaining unit member for exercising contractual rights under this or any other provision of this Agreement.
- G. If, in the judgment of the Association, a grievance affects two or more bargaining unit members in the same manner, the Association may file a class action grievance within thirty (30) working days after learning of the action or inaction upon which the grievance is based. The processing of such grievance will commence at Level Two.
- H. All copies and originals of documents, exhibits, written communications and records dealing with the processing of a grievance will be filed in a separate grievance file and will not be kept in the personnel file of any of the participants.
- I. Forms for use in processing grievances shall be provided by the Employer.

Section 4: Grievance Steps

A. Level One

Within thirty (30) working days of the disputed action or inaction or within thirty (30) working days from the date the bargaining unit member is made aware of the action or inaction, whichever is later, the grievant shall first present a grievance in writing to the Director or designee. The Director or designee shall attempt to resolve the matter and report their his/her decision in writing to the grievant within ten (10) working days of its presentation.

B. Level Two

If the grievant is not satisfied with the disposition of the his/her grievance at Level One, the Association may file a written grievance with the Department of Administration, Division of Personnel and Labor Relations, Employee Relations Program Manager within ten (10) working days after the written response at Level One is due or received, whichever is earlier. The written appeal shall state specifically which article(s) and/or sections(s) of the Agreement the Employer may have violated. The Employee Relations Program Manager shall submit their his/her decision and the reasons therefore in writing to the Association within ten (10) working days after receipt of the grievance at Level Two. If requested by the Employee Relations Program Manager, an extension of this ten (10) working day response deadline shall be granted to allow appropriate travel.

Settlements reached at Level One or Level Two shall be binding only if such settlements are consistent with the provision of this Agreement. Grievances settled at Level One or Level Two found to be inconsistent with this Agreement may be reopened by the Employer through a written notice to the Association within fifteen (15) working days from the date of settlement.

C. Level Three

If the Association is not satisfied with the disposition of the grievance at Level Two, the Association may appeal in writing the Level Two decision to the Attorney General, or designee, Commissioner of the Department of Administration within twenty (20) working days after the decision at Level Two is due or received, whichever is earlier. The written appeal shall state specifically which articles or sections of the Agreement the Employer may have violated. The Attorney General, Commissioner of the Department of Administration, or designee, shall submit _____ decision and the reasons therefore in writing to the Association within twenty (20) working days after receipt of the grievance at Level Three.

D. If the Association is not satisfied with the disposition of a grievance at Level Three, the Association may appeal in writing the Level Three decision to binding arbitration within fifteen (15) working days after the decision at Level Three is due or received, whichever is earlier. Within twenty (20) working days after the written appeal to arbitration is received, the Employer and the Association shall meet to select an arbitrator from the current panel of arbitrators by alternately striking names from the panel until only one name remains. The remaining name shall serve as the arbitrator. If the selected arbitrator cannot serve within a reasonable period of time, the parties will mutually agree upon another arbitrator. The first strike shall be determined by a coin toss.

Section 5: Board of Arbitrators

The panel of arbitrators shall be seven (7) Pacific Northwest arbitrators jointly requested by the Association and the Employer from the Federal Mediation and Conciliation Service (FMCS) within thirty (30) working days of the signing of this Agreement. If either the Employer or Association so desires, a new panel of seven (7) arbitrators may be requested at the end of each six (6) month period. This does not preclude the parties from compiling a mutually agreeable list without the assistance of the FMCS.

The selected arbitrator shall be jointly contacted by the parties promptly to schedule a mutually satisfactory hearing date, time and place for the arbitration. The arbitrator will issue their his/her decision not later than thirty (30) working days from the date of the close of the hearings, or from the date the final statements and/or briefs are submitted to him/her. The written decision of the arbitrator shall be submitted to the Employer and to the Association and shall be final and binding upon the parties. The arbitrator shall have no authority to rule contrary to, to amend, add to, subtract from or eliminate any of the terms of this Agreement. The arbitrator shall have the power to return a grievant to bargaining unit member status with or without restoration of back pay or mitigate the penalty as equity suggests under the facts.

Section 6: Authority of the Arbitrator

The parties agree that any questions of procedural arbitrability in a dispute shall be heard by the arbitrator at the same hearing that the merits of the dispute are heard, unless upon the request of either party, the arbitrator decides otherwise. The arbitrator shall first rule on the procedural arbitrability issues in their his/her decision and, if appropriate, on the merits of the dispute. The costs of the services for the arbitrator, and their his/her travel and subsistence expenses, and the cost of any hearing room will be borne as designated by the arbitrator. All other costs will be borne by the party incurring them.

Section 7: Arbitration Witnesses

A bargaining unit member who is required to appear as a witness for an arbitration proceeding for the Association shall be granted time off, and such time will be considered Association Leave and be deducted from the four (4) hours per pay period as provided for in this Agreement.

AVTECTA to SOA; SUPPOSAL A 3/7/25

ARTICLE 16
PERFORMANCE EVALUATIONS AND PERSONNEL RECORDS

The purpose of this evaluation procedure shall be to foster a process of communication that recognizes performance and encourages improvement, through assessment of bargaining unit member competency, strengths and weaknesses as they relate to the effective operation of the instructional program.

- A. ~~During a~~ Bargaining unit member's in probationary status period s/he shall receive written performance evaluations midway through and at the completion of the probationary period. be evaluated in a written narrative form at least twice. These required evaluations of the bargaining unit member shall be completed at the midpoint of the bargaining unit member's work year and no later than June 30 of a calendar year.
- B. After completion of a bargaining unit member's probationary period they s/he shall be evaluated over a period of at least 30 days in a written narrative form at least once each year to be completed by no later than April 30 of each calendar year.
- C. Bargaining unit members shall be evaluated by Department Heads or the appropriate supervisor and Department Heads shall be evaluated by the appropriate supervisor.
- D. Each evaluation shall be prepared in draft form by the rater to receive input from the appropriate supervisor. The evaluation shall be prepared and presented to the bargaining unit member for feedback. The supervisor will then finalize the evaluation and present it to the bargaining unit member. The bargaining unit member will have a minimum of five (5) working days to review, sign and, if applicable, attach a written rebuttal. Signature by the bargaining unit member does not imply concurrence with the evaluation contents. The final evaluation and any written rebuttal shall become a part of the bargaining unit member's official personnel file.
- E. Any unsatisfactory rating on a bargaining unit member's evaluation shall be followed by a remediation plan. The rater, the bargaining unit member and the appropriate supervisor shall jointly develop the remediation plan. The plan shall minimally state specifically what is to be corrected, by what standards and at what level such corrections shall be judged, the types of assistance that will be provided to the employee, and a reasonable time period in which the corrections are to be made. A follow-up evaluation period of thirty (30) to ninety (90) on-calendar days will be scheduled by May 15 of the same year, to allow the bargaining unit member a chance to earn a mid-acceptable or higher performance rating on their evaluation consistent with the remediation plan. Should an remediation plan roll into the following school year, any step increase earned by way of a finalized evaluation with a mid-acceptable or higher performance rating, will be granted on the first day of the following pay period.
- F. Any change in the evaluation form shall be reviewed by the Association prior to the new evaluation form being used.
- G. Additional evaluations may be performed as determined by the rater or requested by the bargaining unit member or by the Director, or designee.
- H. Each evaluation report shall note if there were any extenuating factors present during the evaluation period.

ARTICLE 17
EXAMINATION OF RECORDS

Section 1: Member Review

Any bargaining unit member shall have the right to examine ~~their~~ his/her own personnel file immediately upon request. Reasonable requests for copies of material contained in personnel files will be honored. The parties recognize that it may become necessary to charge for copies provided beyond one copy of each document during any twelve (12) month period at the rate of twenty-five cents (\$0.25) per page.

Section 2: AVTECTA Review

With written permission of the bargaining unit member involved, AVTECTA representatives shall have the right to examine the bargaining unit member's personnel file upon notification to the AVTEC Administration office. The AVTEC Administration office shall make available original or copies of the original records for examination by AVTECTA representatives at the place where the records are kept. The Association shall be responsible for the protection and security of provided information.

Section 3: Secret Files

No secret files shall be kept on any bargaining unit member and the location of all files containing personnel records shall be made known to the bargaining unit member upon request.

ARTICLE 18 HEALTH AND SAFETY

Section 1: Life Insurance

The Employer shall insure the life of every Bargaining Unit Member in the principal amount of ten thousand dollars (\$10,000.00).

Section 2: Travel and Accident Insurance

The Employer shall insure the life of every bargaining unit member against accidental death while the bargaining unit member is traveling within the scope of their ~~his/her~~ State employment in the amount of two hundred thousand dollars (\$200,000.00).

Section 3: Health Insurance

Employer-Sponsored Health Insurance Plan

- A. The Employer will continue to provide a flexible benefits program for the provision of health insurance. Eligible employees will pay, by payroll deduction, any difference between the Employer's contribution and the total premium required to provide the coverage elected by the employee under the flexible benefits program. The Employer will seek to maintain a plan with prudent reserves and appropriate cost sharing. This article will in no way limit the Commissioner's authority under AS 39.30.095(b).
- B. Effective January 1, each year this agreement is in effect, the Employer's health insurance contribution shall be the amount of money, for all employees, that is necessary to fund comparable coverage under the Select Benefits Economy Medical/Audio/RX and Preventive Dental Plan, less a monthly employee contribution not to exceed 15% of the premium contribution, commencing January 1, 2023, for the employee only and the employee plus family economy plans. The eligibility of the employees and their dependents for coverage and the precise benefits to be provided will be as set forth in the insurance plan documents, consistent with AS 39.30.090.
- C. The eligibility of bargaining unit members and their dependents for coverage and the precise benefits to be provided shall be as set forth in the insurance contract(s) entered into by the State of Alaska for that purpose. Coverage for permanent bargaining unit members, who work less than full time, is also defined in the insurance plan booklet.
- D. The Employer shall provide written notice to the Association of changes to the level of health insurance benefits at least ninety (90) days prior to implementation.
- E. The Employer agrees to continue to require the provider under the Employer plan to provide a toll-free number for the purpose of handling inquiries and complaints to the provider.
- F. The Employer's responsibility under this section is limited to the payment of necessary contributions required to purchase the insurance coverage. The Employer has no liability for the failure or refusal of the insurance carrier to honor a bargaining unit member's claim or to pay benefits and no such action on the part of the insurance carrier shall be attributable to the Employer or constitute a breach of this Agreement by the Employer. Under no circumstances

shall the Employer be responsible for paying any health insurance benefits directly to a bargaining unit member. Disputes regarding individual claims shall be adjudicated solely through the procedures provided by the insurance carrier, except that an allegation that the Employer has failed to pay the required premium may be subject to the grievance procedure set out at Article 15 of this Agreement.

- G. The Employer expressly waives its right to require the Association to bargain collectively and the Association expressly waives its right to require the Employer to bargain collectively over all matters relating to the provision of a group health insurance plan established pursuant to AS 39.30.090.

Section 4: Health Benefits Evaluation Committee

The parties agree to jointly participate in a Health Benefits Evaluation Committee (HBEC). The HBEC will establish rules to govern the operation of the Committee.

- A. The HBEC will meet at least quarterly. Meeting arrangements and venue will be the Employer's responsibility, and clerical support will be the shared responsibility of the HBEC representatives. Meetings may be scheduled telephonically to reduce costs. Should in person meetings occur, meetings will be held in Juneau and Anchorage, alternating when possible. A State member of the HBEC shall chair the meetings.
- B. The HBEC will consist of labor and management representatives. AVTECTA will have one (1) voting representative on the Committee. Management and labor will have an equal number of votes regardless of the number of management and labor representatives on the committee. The committee will include members from other bargaining units as agreed to separately by management and those bargaining units.
- C. Meetings will be scheduled at the conclusion of the prior meeting, when possible, to ensure adequate notice. The Employer will provide an agenda two weeks prior to the meetings with supporting materials, as available. Updates will be sent as timely as possible.
- D. The HBEC will have access to analyses of current plan administration, claims payment administration, benefit plan design and utilization conducted by or for the Division of Retirement and Benefits (DRB). A representative of the carrier or third party administrator will be available to the Committee.
- E. The HBEC may make recommendations to the Commissioner of Administration concerning provision of efficient, effective health care benefits within the level of the Employer's contribution, including but not limited to utilization review, pre-certification requirements, cost containment measure, employee education and preferred provider arrangements. The HBEC will designate a labor representative to timely memorialize and submit these recommendations to the Commissioner of Administration. The Commissioner of Administration will give the committee's recommendation full and careful consideration.

Section 5: Health Care Authority Reopener

During the term of this agreement the State may explore providing health benefits through an

alternative method of delivery by participating in a health care authority (HCA). As a participating employer of the HCA, the State will retain autonomy over the plan in consultation with the Health benefits Evaluation Committee on terms of the plan design features, such as the amount of the annual deductible, required copayment for prescription drugs, and employer coinsurance.

At the request of either party, this Article will be reopened for negotiations in the event the State becomes a participating employer during the term of this Agreement in a health plan or plans offered through the creation of an HCA.

ARTICLE 19 SALARY

Section 1: Pay

Bargaining unit members shall be compensated for each workday based on the appropriate daily rate of pay from the salary schedule below, and based on the assigned training calendar. The total number of compensated days shall include one (1) preparation day without students for every eighteen (18) days of instruction of six (6) hours or more. The Employer will attempt to avoid decreasing the number of workdays for all bargaining unit members; however, if reductions cannot be avoided, overall decreases in the number of workdays for a school year will not be so great that a loss of accreditation may result. Preparation days shall be independent of mandatory in-service or professional development activities. Bargaining unit members calendars will include: instructional days, compensated days, preparation days, holidays, and in-service days.

Bargaining unit members are not entitled to overtime pay.

Bargaining unit members working in the current school year shall be notified of the training calendar for the next school year as soon as practical, but prior to their last workday of the current training year.

Section 2: Salary Schedule

Effective July 1, 2025, the salary schedule in effect July 1, 2024 shall be amended to reflect the following:

Step	1	2	3	4	5
1	—253.05	—271.19	—289.91	—309.76	
2	—261.37	—279.51	—298.84	—319.50	
3	—271.19	—289.91	—309.76	—330.99	
4	—279.51	—298.84	—319.50	—342.06	
5	—289.91	—309.76	—330.99	—354.47	
6	—295.70	—315.95	—337.63	—361.58	—386.89
7	—301.61	—322.30	—344.35	—368.80	—394.62
8	—307.63	—328.73	—351.26	—376.20	—402.52
9	307.63	—335.31	—358.27	—383.71	—410.56
10	307.63	—342.01	—365.44	—391.38	—418.77
11	307.63	—348.85	—372.76	—399.19	—427.15
12	307.63	—355.82	—380.19	—407.18	—435.70
13	307.63	—355.82	—387.81	—415.31	—444.42
14	307.63	—355.82	—395.57	—423.63	—453.30
15	307.63	—355.82	—403.48	—432.11	—462.35
16	307.63	—355.82	—403.48	—440.74	—471.59
17	307.63	—355.82	—403.48	—449.56	—481.03
18	307.63	—355.82	—403.48	—458.57	—490.64

Column→ Step ↓	<u>1</u>	<u>2</u>	<u>3</u>	<u>4</u>	<u>5</u>
<u>1</u>	\$ 279.15	\$ 299.16	\$ 319.82	\$ 341.71	\$ 385.79
<u>2</u>	\$ 288.33	\$ 308.34	\$ 329.67	\$ 352.46	\$ 393.67
<u>3</u>	\$ 299.16	\$ 319.82	\$ 341.71	\$ 365.13	\$ 401.70
<u>4</u>	\$ 308.34	\$ 329.67	\$ 352.46	\$ 377.35	\$ 409.90
<u>5</u>	\$ 319.82	\$ 341.71	\$ 365.13	\$ 391.04	\$ 418.26
<u>6</u>	\$ 326.20	\$ 348.54	\$ 372.46	\$ 398.88	\$ 426.80
<u>7</u>	\$ 332.72	\$ 355.55	\$ 379.87	\$ 406.84	\$ 435.33
<u>8</u>	\$ 339.36	\$ 362.64	\$ 387.49	\$ 415.01	\$ 444.04
<u>9</u>	\$ 346.15	\$ 369.90	\$ 395.23	\$ 423.29	\$ 452.91
<u>10</u>	\$ 353.07	\$ 377.29	\$ 403.14	\$ 431.75	\$ 461.97
<u>11</u>	\$ 360.14	\$ 384.84	\$ 411.21	\$ 440.37	\$ 471.21
<u>12</u>	\$ 367.34	\$ 392.53	\$ 419.41	\$ 449.18	\$ 480.65
<u>13</u>	\$ 374.69	\$ 400.38	\$ 427.82	\$ 458.15	\$ 490.26
<u>14</u>	\$ 382.18	\$ 408.39	\$ 436.38	\$ 467.33	\$ 500.06
<u>15</u>	\$ 389.82	\$ 416.56	\$ 445.10	\$ 476.68	\$ 510.04
<u>16</u>	\$ 397.62	\$ 424.89	\$ 454.00	\$ 486.21	\$ 520.24
<u>17</u>	\$ 405.57	\$ 433.39	\$ 463.08	\$ 495.93	\$ 530.65
<u>18</u>	\$ 413.68	\$ 442.06	\$ 472.35	\$ 505.87	\$ 541.25

Effective July 1, 2026, the wage schedules shall be adjusted as follows, not to exceed five (5) percent, based on the changes for the calendar year 2024 compared to the prior calendar year of the U.S. Department of Labor, Bureau of Labor Statistics, Consumer Price Index for all Urban Consumers (CPI-U) for Anchorage, Alaska:

<u>Anchorage CPI-U calendar year 2024 compared to prior year</u>	<u>COLA effective July 1, 2026</u>
<u>Less than 1%</u>	<u>0%</u>
<u>Greater than or equal to 1% and less than 2%</u>	<u>1.25%</u>
<u>Greater than or equal to 2% and less than 4%</u>	<u>2.5%</u>
<u>Greater than or equal to 4%</u>	<u>5%</u>

Effective July 1, 2027, the wage schedules shall be adjusted as follows, not to exceed five (5) percent, based on the changes for the calendar year 2025 compared to the prior calendar year of the U.S. Department of Labor, Bureau of Labor Statistics, Consumer Price Index for all Urban Consumers (CPI-U) for Anchorage, Alaska:

<u>Anchorage CPI-U calendar year 2025 compared to prior year</u>	<u>COLA effective July 1, 2027</u>
<u>Less than 1%</u>	<u>0%</u>
<u>Greater than or equal to 1% and less than 2%</u>	<u>1.25%</u>
<u>Greater than or equal to 2% and less than 4%</u>	<u>2.5%</u>
<u>Greater than or equal to 4%</u>	<u>5%</u>

NOTE: Wage tables are incorporated by reference and can be found at the Division of Finance website: https://doa.alaska.gov/dof/payroll/sal_sched.html

Effective July 1, 2023, the salary schedule in effect July 1, 2022 shall be increased by 2.5%.

Effective July 1, 2024, the salary schedule in effect July 1, 2023, shall be increased by 2.5%.

Section 3: Initial Placement

Initial placement on the salary schedule will be based on the following guidelines. AVTEC Administration has the option of advanced placement of up to five (5) steps in consideration of industry credentials and or teaching experience. Determination of qualifying credentials and experience is the responsibility of the Director or designee. ~~Advance placement beyond five (5) steps must have prior approval from the Director of Personnel & Labor Relations.~~ Experience and education must be related to instructional practice/pedagogy or the assigned subject area to be considered for initial placement. ~~Experience must be journey-level or equivalent.~~

Column	Experience and Education
1	Minimum of 5 years, or Associate's degree
2	Minimum of 10 years, or Associate's degree plus 5 years, or Bachelor's degree
3	Minimum of 15 years, or an Associate's degree plus 10 years, or Bachelor's degree plus 5 years, or a Master's degree
4	Minimum of 20 years, or a Bachelor's degree plus 10 years, or Master's degree or higher plus 5 years

A current bargaining unit member who has completed their probationary period as defined in Article 10, section 3 and who separates in good standing while holding a permanent appointment may be reappointed without recruitment or examination in the instructor job class provided that the reappointment takes place within two (2) years for the bargaining unit member's date of separation and provided they are not retired under TRS or PERS.

If an employee eligible for rehire is reappointed, the appointing authority may make the appointment at the same step in the salary range occupied before the separation provided that the reappointment occurs within two (2) years.

Section 4: Advancement

Step advancement will be based on evaluation that reflects ~~performance of greater value to AVTEC and overall mid-acceptable or higher satisfactory~~ performance as determined by the Employer in an annual evaluation. Administration may grant additional merit step advancement for exceptional performance.

Column advancement is based on the bargaining unit member achieving initial placement criteria for a specific range, or attainment of sufficient professional development credits. Achieving twenty-one (21) credits on an approved professional development plan will qualify for lateral movement to the next up one column within the established salary schedule with no reduction in steps. All credits must be earned after initial employment and after each column advancement. Documentation to support the column advancement must be submitted by the employee. Sufficient supporting documentation may include grade slips, transcripts, training certificates, or written notification from a training facility or employer, which attests to the bargaining unit member's successful completion of the

period of training.

For the purposes of movement across the salary schedule, a credit shall be defined as either:

1. One (1) university regionally accredited semester or equivalent quarter credits, or;
2. Training directly related to the assigned instructional area or instructional practice/pedagogy. To qualify for credits in this provision, the course must be pre-approved by the Department Head and AVTEC Director or designee. Additional course work in addition to the training program may be required. The number of credits earned for such training shall be roughly equivalent to the formula used to determine university credit. (15 hours of instruction or 3545 hours of externship, shop instruction, or the equivalent shall equal one (1) credit). This also must be reviewed and approved by the Department Head and AVTEC Director or designee.

Section 5: Department Head/~~Unit Lead~~ Pay

Department head/~~Unit lead~~ status is an assignment of instructional supervisory and/or management responsibility from AVTEC Administration. AVTEC Administration has sole authority to assign or remove department head duties.

- A. A bargaining unit member assigned department head/~~Unit lead~~ duties shall receive additional compensation equivalent to one step or 3.7% of their current pay whichever is the larger increase than their normal step placement, and will be paid for five (5) additional work days.
- B. If the department head/~~Unit lead~~ is responsible for supervising a combination of five (5) or more bargaining unit members or instructors and others employed by the State in permanent positions, ~~they~~he shall receive total additional compensation equivalent to one step or 3.7% whichever is the larger increase than ~~their~~this or her~~their~~ normal step placement, and will be paid for a total of ten (10) additional work days.

Section 6: Notification of Salary Change Eligibility

Advancement for Next School Year.

To be considered for column advancement bargaining unit members must submit a request for advanced column placement in writing with applicable documentation to the AVTEC Director or designee. In order to meet the responsibility in forecasting budget requirements of AVTEC, requests for advancement must be submitted no later than April 1 to be considered for the coming fiscal year. If a request for advancement or letter of intent was not received on or before April 1, column advancement will occur on the first day of the pay period of the fiscal year following the coming fiscal year. Bargaining unit members must either submit a letter requesting column placement with appropriate supporting documentation or a letter of intent with an estimated date that the bargaining unit member will complete advancement requirements during the next fiscal year. Once the bargaining unit member has provided all the required documentation to support column advancement the Director, or designee, will review the request and determine eligibility within (10) working days.

Bargaining unit members approved for column advancement will be placed in the appropriate column the first day of the pay period of the new fiscal year or the first day of the pay period following approval of advancement whichever is applicable. If for any reason the member is

unable to meet the goal set in the letter of intent the member should retract their intention in writing to the Director, or designee, and if applicable submit a new letter for the next fiscal year.

<u>Submission Date for Intent or Request for Column Advancement</u>	<u>Approval Date (documents submitted 10 working days prior to approval)</u>	<u>Advancement begins, if approved</u>
<u>Prior to or on April 1 of Fiscal Year 1</u>	<u>Prior to or on July 1 of Fiscal Year 2</u>	<u>First day of first pay period of Fiscal Year 2</u>
<u>Prior to or on April 1 in Fiscal Year 1</u>	<u>After July 1 in Fiscal Year 2</u>	<u>First day of first pay period of Fiscal Year 2 after documentation is approved</u>
<u>After April 1 in Fiscal Year 1</u>	<u>Prior to or on July 1 of Fiscal Year 3</u>	<u>First day of first pay period of Fiscal Year 3</u>
<u>After April 1 in Fiscal Year 1</u>	<u>After July 1 of Fiscal Year 3</u>	<u>First pay period of Fiscal Year 3 after documentation is approved</u>

Section 7: Professional Development Plan

Professional development plans will be prepared for bargaining unit members wishing advanced column placement and who are not enrolled in a degree program. The plans are for the purpose of professional advancement that results in services being of greater value and accomplishing the goals of AVTEC. The ~~bargaining unit member~~~~teacher or instructor~~ and their department head will develop professional development plans jointly. All professional development plans will be approved by the AVTEC Director or designee and will not be unreasonably denied.

Section 8: Workday

Instructional programs will be designed to be delivered within the seven and one-half (7:30) hour day, five (5) day workweek, inclusive of administrative paperwork. Duties defined as normal to the position shall include all tasks the employee would perform for the effective delivery of their assigned program. If a bargaining unit member is assigned by AVTEC Administration to perform additional duties beyond those normal to the assigned position, the member will be compensated at their normal rate.

It is not the intent of the parties to regularly extend the normal workday or week through the assignment of unrelated duties. Members will not be required by AVTEC Administration to perform activities beyond the normal instructional assignment without compensation.

Compensation may be made by adjusting the workweek or by increasing the number of compensated workdays. This compensation will be made at the member's (then) current daily rate. The amount and type of compensation shall be agreed upon by an administrator and the member prior to the performance of the activity.

If any change to contracted days is required from one academic year to the next, the administration must provide written notice to the affected bargaining unit member to explain the rationale and impact on workload of such a change. The administration shall provide this notice after calendars for the following academic year are submitted for approval. The employer may change an

[employee's number of calendar days to \(1\) align with a provision of this agreement or \(2\) when there is a corresponding change to \(a\) workload and \(b\) one of the following: training schedules, a program, a caseload, or funding.](#)

Section 9: Preparation Time

One-half (1/2) hour of compensated preparation time will be allowed for each day a teacher or instructor performs instructional duties for a minimum of seven (7) hours.

Section 10: Pay procedures

- A. The annual pay for bargaining unit members will be computed by multiplying the appropriate daily rate times the number of paid days. Salary will be distributed over twenty-six (26) biweekly pay periods to ensure year-round insurance coverage. However, upon initial hire, a member's salary will be distributed equally over the pay periods remaining in the school year ending June 30.
- B. Payday shall be biweekly and shall be paid every other Friday, unless the regular payday falls on a holiday, in which case the last working day before said designated holiday shall be considered payday.
- C. All checks postmarked or deposited by payday shall be considered timely.
- D. The Employer shall itemize all deductions on regular paychecks so bargaining unit members can clearly determine the purposes for which amounts have been withheld.
- E. The parties recognize that the State Payroll system rounds payroll calculations to four decimal places. Therefore, calculations using rate in the Collective Bargaining Agreement may result in penny rounding differences. The parties accept that these differences do not require further payroll adjustments that would cause the employee to pay back penny rounding differences or for the Employer to add penny rounding differences to an employee's pay.

ARTICLE 20 LEAVE

Effective July 1, 2005, a personal leave system shall be put in place for all eligible bargaining unit members. Bargaining unit members employed in the unit on July 1, 2005, who are currently under the TRS retirement program, must choose, irrevocably, to remain under provisions of Section 2. All Bargaining Unit Members will be required to participate in a personal leave system as described herein.

The provisions of this Article will cover any leave eligible bargaining unit member entering the unit on or after July 1, 2005.

Section 1. Personal Leave

A. Accrual.

1. Full-time bargaining unit members shall accrue personal leave at the following rate:
 - a. Up to 2 years of service: 4 hours:19 minutes per biweekly pay period (112 hours:30 minutes annually)
 - b. 2 to 5 years of service: 4 hours:36 minutes per biweekly pay period (120 hours annually)
 - c. 5 years and more of service: 4 hours:54 minutes per biweekly pay period (127 hours:30 minutes annually)

Leave accruals shall occur twenty-six (26) times per year. Active fulltime employees shall receive an additional accrual on the first day of the last pay period of the leave year in December, ~~starting December 2020~~. This accrual shall be an amount equal to the difference between an employee's current yearly accrual rate and the sum of twenty-six (26) times that pay period accrual rate.

2. There shall be no accrual of personal leave during any pay period during which the bargaining unit member is absent without approved leave. Bargaining unit members on approved leave shall receive payment at their current salary to the extent that they have leave accrued. Personal leave may not be used for any period that the bargaining unit member is not scheduled to work. Personal leave accruals for partial months of work will be on a prorated basis.
3. Upon appointment, accrued personal leave is available for use by a member following the successful completion of thirty (30) consecutive calendar days of leave eligible employment.
4. Personal leave accrued but not used shall accumulate to a maximum of seven-hundred twenty (720) hours on the last day of the last pay period in June of any calendar year. If a bargaining unit member has, as of the last day of the last pay period in June, an amount of personal leave in excess of seven-hundred twenty (720) hours, the excess shall be deducted from the employee's personal leave balance and paid as cash.

Section 2. Banked Medical Leave

Bargaining Unit Members under the Teachers Retirement System who have banked medical leave will be

eligible for the unused sick leave credit defined in AS 14.25.115.

Banked medical leave may be taken only in accordance with this section:

Medical Leave Bank is to be used only in the event of illness or injury of the member or the member's immediate family, or other events authorized in this Article. There will be no further additions to the medical leave bank.

- A. In an absence due to illness or injury, the supervisor may require a physician's certificate for absences in excess of three (3) days or if improper use is suspected.
- B. The taking of leave under this section shall be reduced by the amount of wage continuation payments under the Alaska Workers' Compensation Act (AS 23.30).
- C. Death of an employee: Upon the death of an employee, any unused sick leave balance shall be paid in cash to the employee's beneficiaries at the employee's base pay rate.

Section 3. Utilization and Disposal

Personal leave shall be used for any and all purposes for which sick and/or annual leave have heretofore been used. This includes medical or dental appointments, and illness or injury of the member or the member's immediate family as defined in 2 AAC 08.999.

Personal leave requests require the prior approval of the supervisor except in the case of illness or injury to the member. Member requests shall be given full consideration and, to the extent practicable, approved. However, the parties agree that the final decision with regard to approval or disapproval of any request will be based on the supervisor's evaluation of the needs of the job. In an absence due to illness or injury, the supervisor may require a physician's certificate for absences in excess of three (3) days or if improper use is suspected.

Regular personal leave requests that require overtime and/or substitutes to maintain essential services must be approved in advance by the direct supervisor and the Director or designee, rather than the supervisor. The Department Head will arrange coverage for instructional duties, which may require contacting AVTEC Administration to provide a substitute.

Section 4. Donated Leave

Members shall be allowed to donate personal leave to and receive donations of personal leave from leave eligible members in this unit or those represented by a different union or noncovered employees subject to the following conditions:

1. Each member wishing to donate personal leave will fill out, date and sign a leave slip showing the amount of leave to be donated subject to a minimum of four (4) hours. The leave slip will have written along the bottom, or in the space provided, "Leave donated to (employee name, employee number)."
2. The Association will be responsible for gathering all leave donations and forwarding to the Division of Finance Payroll Services. Leave donations will be posted by the Employer in date and order received to the recipient's donated leave account as needed. Donations will not be posted for use in a pay period prior to that in which received. Once an employee returns to

work, if after three pay periods in which the donee does not require the use of donated leave, the leave donated and not used by the donee shall be returned to the donor.

3. The Employer will convert the donated leave to dollars at the annualized hourly rate of the donor. That dollar amount will be converted to leave at the annualized hourly rate of the recipient and the appropriate hours of leave will be added to the recipient's donated leave account for use as sick leave. The total amount of leave credited to the recipient's donated leave account shall not exceed 300 hours during the life of the current agreement. Donated leave may not be used until all accrued personal leave has been exhausted.
4. Once the Employer has completed the above process, the state will not be obligated for further processing or liabilities resulting there from. Once the donation has been transferred to the recipient, the donation cannot be withdrawn, modified or otherwise returned to the donor's leave account. Upon the death of a member, any unused donated leave shall be paid in cash to the member's beneficiaries at the member's annualized hourly rate.

Section 5. Leave Cash-In

Bargaining unit members having in excess of 37.5 hours of personal leave shall, upon written request to the employer, receive payment for accrued but unused personal leave, subject to the following limitations:

- A. Under no circumstances may a member request or receive a leave cash-in that would reduce the employee's accrued personal leave balance below 37.5 hours;
- B. Payment at the current rate of pay will be made no later than one (1) pay period following the pay period in which the request was made.

Section 6. Terminal Leave

Upon separation, all accrued personal leave shall be paid to the Bargaining Unit Member at the rate it was accrued.

Section 7. Leaves of Absence for FMLA/AFLA Conditions

The Employer shall follow the procedures established by the Department of Administration, Division of Personnel ~~and Labor Relations~~ and in compliance with the State and Federal laws enacted for Family and Medical Leave (CFR Title 29 Part 825)/Alaska Family Leave (AS 39.20.500) for bargaining unit members.

Section 8. Time Off to Vote

The Employer shall provide reasonable and necessary time off for bargaining unit members covered by this Agreement to vote in local, municipal, borough, State and federal elections, provided that the bargaining unit member is unable to vote outside working hours because of actions of the Employer.

Section 9. Other Approved Absences

Upon application and approval of the appointing authority, a bargaining unit member may be granted leave of absence without pay, for up to one (1) year.; [Ce](#)ontinuous service credit shall not accrue during the period of leave. Bargaining unit members returning from an approved absence will be returned to the same salary and status held prior to the approved absence.

Section 10. ~~Absence and Payment for~~ Court and Jury Duty Leave

A bargaining unit member who is called to serve as a juror or subpoenaed as a witness shall be entitled to court leave. Written documents such as a subpoena, Marshall's statement of attendance and compensation for services, per diem and travel, may be required to support a request for court leave. Bargaining unit members shall submit appropriate ~~monies~~~~moneys~~ to the Employer received from the court as compensation for court service during regularly scheduled or assigned work periods and in turn shall be paid their current salary while on court leave.

Section 11. Non-War Military Duty Absence and Payment

A bargaining unit member who is required to report for a military physical examination is entitled to a leave of absence without loss of pay, time or performance rating. The leave of absence shall not exceed three (3) working days.

A bargaining unit member who is a member of a reserve or auxiliary component of the United States Armed Forces is entitled to a leave of absence without loss of pay, time or performance rating without regard to other compensation earned during that period on all days during which the bargaining unit member is ordered to training duty, as distinguished from active duty, with troops or at field exercises, or for instruction, or when under direct military control in the performance of a search and rescue mission.. The leave of absence may not exceed sixteen and one-half (16-1/2) working days in any calendar year. Upon return from military leave, the bargaining unit member shall be placed in the last position held.

A bargaining unit member on personal leave shall not go on military leave without returning to duty unless military leave is approved prior to commencement of personal leave.

Section 12. Extended Absence for Disability, Illness or Injury

Upon application by a bargaining unit member who has exhausted accrued leave or holiday leave (as applicable), a leave of absence without pay may be granted by the appointing authority for disability because of sickness or injury. Such leave shall be limited to one (1) month for each full year of State service to a maximum of twenty-four (24) months. The appointing authority may periodically require that the bargaining unit member submit a certificate from the attending physician or from a designated physician. If the certificate does not clearly show sufficient disability to preclude the bargaining unit member from performing the bargaining unit member's duties or if the bargaining unit member does not provide the required certificate, the appointing authority may cancel the leave and require the bargaining unit member to report to duty on a specified date.

Family Medical Leave: Employees shall be entitled to coverage under the Family Medical Leave Act (FMLA) and the Alaska Family Leave Act (AFLA – AS 39.20.500).

Section 13. Sick Leave Bank

A. Sick Leave Bank Membership

Any AVTECTA member may become a member of the Sick Leave Bank by authorizing the donation of fifteen (15) hours of leave to the Bank on the form provided by the Employer:

1. Newly hired bargaining unit members must donate within the first one hundred (100) workdays.
2. Existing bargaining unit members may join by donating during an annual enrollment window of

November 1 to December 15 each calendar year. Failure to join by notification to the Employer during this period renders the bargaining unit member ineligible for use of the Sick Leave Bank for the following leave year.

Thereafter, members of the Bank shall each donate to the Bank a leave day (7.5 hours) each January 1, until the Bank reaches a maximum balance of 150 days (1,125 hours). Except for new participants, no more leave donations will be deducted until the Bank is depleted to 60 days (450 hours).

When the 60-day (450 hours) minimum is reached each member of the Bank will again contribute one leave day (7.5 hours) each January 1, until the Bank again reaches a maximum of 150 days (1,125 hours).

Section 14. Sick Leave Bank Use

A Sick Leave Bank Committee will be established by the Association to implement, administer and oversee the Bank. The decision(s) of the Sick Leave Bank Committee shall be final.

Sick leave days can only be withdrawn from the Bank for injuries or illnesses.

If the Sick Leave Bank is disbanded the accumulated sick leave in the bank will be distributed equally to all the bargaining unit members who are sick leave bank members at the time. A report of the balance of the sick leave bank will be provided to the Association president upon request.

Section 15. Association Business Leave Bank

An Association leave bank will be maintained by the Employer for use by the Association. Access to the leave bank must be authorized by the President of AVTECTA, or the Vice President when the President is requesting leave, and approved by the Director or his/her designee. Approval of the use of business leave shall not be unreasonably denied.

All bargaining unit Association Mmembers will donate four (4) hours of personal leave to the AVTECTA Business Leave Bank during the first pay period of each calendar year, until the Bank reaches a maximum dollar value balance of \$19,000.00. When the Leave Bank falls to a minimum dollar value balance of \$9,000.00, each bargaining unit member ~~of the Bank~~ will again contribute 4 hours during the first pay period of each calendar year until the Bank again reaches a maximum dollar value balance of \$19,000.00.

Any bargaining unit member may choose to transfer additional hours from their accrued personal leave balance in one (1) hour increments to the bank at any time with no maximum limitation, except that a bargaining unit member may not transfer more increments of annual leave than are posted to the member's annual leave balance at the time of authorization.

Leave assessments will be converted to its dollar value at the rate of pay of the Member from whom the leave was received. Those dollars (with 38% benefit costs) shall be placed in the Business Leave Bank. When business leave is used in accordance with the other provisions of this Section, dollars will be withdrawn from the Business Leave Bank equal to the hourly rate (with 38% benefit costs) of the Member utilizing the leave times the hours of leave taken.

| [SOA to AVTECTA, Package Supposal on 3/20/2025, Subject to GOV approval](#)

| [The employer shall provide a monthly report of the balance and withdrawals to the Association.](#)

ARTICLE 21 HOLIDAYS

- A. All bargaining unit members shall be entitled to, and compensated for, all holidays as listed below:

1. New Year's Day	The 1st day of January
2. Martin Luther King, Jr. Day	The 3 rd Monday in January
3. President's Day	The 3 rd Monday in February
4. Seward's Day	The last Monday in March
5. Memorial Day	The last Monday in May
5-6. Juneteenth	The 19th of June
6-7. Independence Day	The 4th of July
7-8. Labor Day	The 1st Monday in September
8-9. Alaska Day	The 18th of October
9-10. Veterans Day	The 11th of November
10-11. Thanksgiving	The 4th Thursday in November
11-12. Christmas	The 25th of December
12-13. Every day designated by public proclamation of the Governor of the State of Alaska as a legal holiday.	

- B. A designated holiday will normally be observed on the calendar day on which it falls, except that if the holiday falls on a bargaining unit member's first regularly scheduled day off it will be observed on the preceding day. If the holiday falls on the bargaining unit member's second regularly scheduled day off it will be observed on the following day.
- C. Each bargaining unit member shall be entitled to, and compensated for, the holidays listed above provided the bargaining unit member was in pay status on the regular work day immediately preceding the holiday and in pay status on the regular work day immediately following the holiday.
- D. If a bargaining unit member is assigned by AVTEC Administration to work on any holiday listed above, the bargaining unit member's personal leave account shall be credited with one day (7.5 hours) of personal leave, following the completion and approval of a Floating Holiday Form.

AVTECTA to SOA; SUPPOSAL A 3/7/25 (SAME AS SOA 1/30 ARTICLE 22 PROPOSAL)

**ARTICLE 22
MEAL AND RELIEF PERIOD**

A duty free lunch break of not less than thirty (30) minutes or more than one (1) hour shall be allowed approximately midway of each work day for each bargaining unit member. An additional lunch period of thirty (30) minutes shall be allowed when a bargaining unit member works continuously for two (2) hours or more before or after the normal work day.

All bargaining unit members shall be allowed one (1) duty free relief period during the first (1st) half of the work day and one (1) duty free relief period during the second (2nd) half of the work day. A normal relief period is fifteen (15) minutes.

Food Service Meals at AVTEC:

All bargaining unit members shall be allowed to purchase any amount of meal tickets at the lowest per meal published cost available to the public and use them with 48 hours advance notice to the cafeteria foreman. This does not limit AVTEC Administration's right to choose to offer reduced or no cost options for AVTEC employees.

KA TA 1/16/2025 4:30pm

**ARTICLE 23
SABBATICAL LEAVE**

- A. The Employer may grant sabbatical leave to qualified AVTECTA bargaining unit members.
- B. The leave may be for up to one full year and shall count as a year's service for salary placement at AVTEC. If the Employer determines a sabbatical leave is appropriate, the Employer and bargaining unit member agree to make TRS/PERS contributions for the period of sabbatical leave in accordance with AS 14.20.330. The Employer shall pay a bargaining unit member's~~teacher's~~ employer-sponsored health insurance premium while the bargaining unit member~~teacher~~ is on sabbatical leave.
- C. If the Employer determines a sabbatical leave may be taken during the following school year, a Sabbatical Leave Committee composed of three representatives appointed by the Association and three representatives appointed by the Employer will meet during the first week of April to review applications submitted prior to April 15 for sabbatical leave consideration. In the event the committee's vote is a tie, the Director or designee shall make the final decision among tied candidates. The bargaining unit member will be notified of their~~his/her~~ selection on or before May 1 of each year.
- D. To qualify to apply for a sabbatical, a bargaining unit member must have served with the Employer as a bargaining unit member at AVTEC for at least five (5) continuous years. The sabbatical leave shall be granted only for educational purposes. The educational purposes must be directly related to the bargaining unit member's AVTEC position. The criteria to be considered for each applicant shall be: 1) benefit to the educational program of AVTEC, 2) educational improvement of the bargaining unit member and, 3) the quality of the educational program chosen by the bargaining unit member to enter.
- E. Upon return from a sabbatical leave a bargaining unit member shall be assigned to the position s/he previously held unless that position has been eliminated in which case the bargaining unit member shall be assigned by the Employer to a similar position after consultation between the bargaining unit member and an appropriate AVTEC Administrator. If no similar position is available or if the similar position is filled, layoff procedures as provided for in Article 12 shall be invoked.

ARTICLE 24
PARKING

The Employer shall make a good faith effort to make parking facilities available to bargaining unit members.

Every effort will be made to provide reserved parking spaces for bargaining unit members who are disabled with respect to walking capability. Such parking will be assigned as near as practicable within close proximity to the bargaining unit member's instructional area.

Where head bolt heater outlets are provided by the Employer, bargaining unit members shall be permitted to use such outlets at no cost.

AG TA 1/16/2025

KA TA 1/16/2025 4:30pm

AVTECTA to SOA; 1/16/2025

ARTICLE 25 EQUIPMENT

Section 1: Tools and Uniforms

The Employer shall not require bargaining unit members to furnish their own tools or work implements in order to perform their duties. A bargaining unit member may choose to utilize their own tools or work implements in order to perform their duties. For any tools or work implements exceeding \$500 in value, the bargaining unit member must gain written approval of the Department Head and clearly distinguish/label the tool or work implement as their own. Approval shall not be unreasonably denied.

The Employer shall provide uniforms to all bargaining unit members required to wear prescribed apparel.

Section 2: Safety Equipment

- A. It shall not be a violation of this Agreement or grounds for dismissal if a bargaining unit member refuses to work on an unsafe job, provided the job is found to be unsafe by the Alaska Department of Labor and Workforce Development. Any safety equipment required by the Division of Labor Standards and Safety regulations to make a job safe shall be supplied by the Employer. The Employer shall abide by safety regulations enforced by, but not limited to, the Alaska Division of Labor Standards, the State Fire Marshall and/or the City Fire Marshall.
- B. Disciplinary action shall not be taken under this Article until the Department of Labor and Workforce Development has made a finding on safety. If the Department of Labor and Workforce Development finds the job to be safe, and in the event that subsequent disciplinary action is taken, the bargaining unit member shall have recourse to the established complaint and/or grievance procedure.

AG

TA - 1/8/20205; 1:00pm

ARTICLE 26
TRAVEL AND PER DIEM

Travel and per diem will be paid in accordance with the Alaska Administrative Manual (AAM 60.010 - AAM 60.280) as revised.

Bargaining unit members may request the waiver of the provisions listed above through a standard letter of agreement.

AVTECTA to SOA; 1/7/2025

**ARTICLE 27
PROTECTION OF
RIGHTS**

Section 1: Illegal Work

The Employer shall not knowingly require any AVTECTA member to perform work in violation of any Federal, State or local laws.

Section 2: Stolen or Damaged Property

- A. Bargaining unit members shall not be responsible for stolen, lost or damaged property except where there is cause to suspect negligence or deliberate act. This shall include the use of credit cards or any other method of credit. In cases of bargaining unit members who are continuing their employment, no deduction in pay shall be made without ten (10) working days notice to the bargaining unit member. If the bargaining unit ~~member's members~~ dispute the matter through the grievance or complaint procedure as applicable within the ten (10) working days from date of notice, no deductions will be made until the dispute process has been completed.
- B. In cases of separating bargaining unit members, the Employer may withhold from the final paycheck the value of the lost or damaged property and may do so pending completion of the applicable dispute process.
- C. This section is not intended to preclude disciplinary action or provide for a time frame for the action except as otherwise provided in this Agreement.

Section 3: Revocation of Licenses

In the event that a bargaining unit member shall suffer a revocation of a professional license because of violation of any Federal, State or local laws by the Employer, the Employer shall provide suitable and continued employment for such bargaining unit member, at not less than the member's standard rate of pay at the time of revocation of the bargaining unit member's license for the entire period of revocation of the license and the bargaining unit member shall be reinstated to the position held prior to revocation of license after the license is restored.

Section 4: Overpayments

All disputes regarding the recovery of overpayments of compensation or other benefits covered by this Agreement shall enter the grievance procedure at the Employee Relations Program Manager level.

Section 5: ~~Subcontracting Feasibility Study~~

Decisions to contract out bargaining unit work shall be made only after the Employer has conducted a formal feasibility study determining whether there will be potential cost savings and other benefits that would result from contracting out the bargaining unit work in question. If the decision to contract out bargaining unit work would displace bargaining unit members, the Employer agrees to notify AVTECTA of its decision to conduct a formal feasibility study, indicating the bargaining unit work proposed to be contracted out. The notification by the Employer to AVTECTA of the results of the feasibility study will include all pertinent information upon which the Employer based its decision to contract out the work. Upon completion of the feasibility study, the Employer shall provide AVTECTA with no less than fifteen (15) working days notice that it

intends to issue bids to contract out bargaining unit work. During this fifteen (15) working day period, the Employer shall not release any bids. AVTECTA will have the opportunity to submit an alternate plan that will be given fair consideration to the study's recommendations.

Nothing in this Article shall prevent the Employer from continually analyzing its operations for the purpose of identifying cost saving opportunities.

No bargaining unit work shall be contracted out that results in the layoff of bargaining unit member(s) unless supported by the feasibility study.

Should a bargaining unit member be laid off as a result of contracting out, management shall make a good faith effort to find the bargaining unit member a vacant position within the institution. If such a position is not available, management shall attempt to find a vacant position within the Department. Regardless of the location, the bargaining unit member must be fully qualified for the position.

ARTICLE 28 PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT

Section 12: Staff Development

The director recognizes the need for the bargaining unit members to remain current in their areas of expertise. Also, that staff development is a necessary and vital tool to enhance the capability of the staff and improve the quality of the institution. To this end, the director will seek a variety of methods and means to provide staff development opportunities to all bargaining unit members.

Section 24: Required Professional Development~~Professional/Industrial Work Experience Leave~~

After hiring, employees attending training courses required by state regulation or AVTEC policy as a condition of continued employment, will be paid by the employer at the employee's regular rate of pay for all time in attendance, plus any fees or tuition. The Employer shall pay any costs of adding any new required certifications including, but not limited to, tuition, fees, travel expenses and materials, for any employee.

Section 3: Professional Development Committee (PDC):

A three-member committee consisting of two members of the Alaska Vocational Technical Center Teachers' Association and an administrative staff member shall be established to review all requests for support for voluntary Professional Development, including Voluntary Professional Development/Industrial Work Experience Leave and Voluntary Professional Development Funding Support as described in this article. Records of PDC applications, ~~decisions~~ recommendations, and reimbursement requests shall be shared with the Association upon request.

Section 4: Professional Development/Industrial Work Experience Leave

- A. Bargaining unit members may apply for Professional Development/Industrial Work Experience Leave for the purpose of receiving training in a field related to the bargaining unit member's assignment. Leave may be granted to allow the bargaining unit member to enroll in courses of instruction or to participate in a planned activity for professional development through an industrial work experience.
- B. Leave taken under this provision shall not exceed eight (8) weeks per individual bargaining unit member during the fiscal year, and the total Professional Development/Industrial Work Experience Leave allowed in any fiscal year shall not exceed twenty-two (22) weeks per fiscal year.

~~C. Professional/Industrial Work Experience Leave must be applied for through the Director.~~

~~The bargaining unit member will provide the Director with the dates the leave will be taken, the description of the professional/industrial work experience plan, and a brief statement of how the training will improve the bargaining unit member's job performance.~~

~~D.C.~~ The application for Professional Development/Industrial Work Experience Leave will be submitted by the ~~employee~~ Director to the PDC, three member committee consisting of two members of the Alaska Vocational Technical Center Teachers' Association and an administrative staff member within five (5) working days from the date of receipt in the Director's office. The

~~employee will provide the committee with the dates the leave will be taken, the description of the professional development/industrial work experience plan, and a brief statement of how the training will improve the bargaining unit member's job performance. This committee will be referred to as the Professional Development Leave Committee.~~ The ~~PD~~Committee will recommend approval or disapproval of the application to the Director within five (5) working days from the date of receipt. The Director will inform the bargaining unit member applying for Professional ~~Development~~/Industrial Work Experience Leave of ~~their~~his/her application's acceptance or denial within five (5) working days of receipt of the Committee's recommendation.

~~F.D.~~ During Professional ~~Development/Industrial Work Experience~~ Leave, the bargaining unit member attending a course of instruction must be enrolled full time, and must successfully complete the course described in the original application. Evidence of the bargaining unit member's successful completion of the course of study must be provided to the Director within three (3) calendar months after the bargaining unit member's return to work. Evidence of successful completion may consist of any of the following: grade slips, transcripts, ~~training certificates, or written notification from a training facility or employer, which attests to a statement from the bargaining unit member of the course indicating~~ the bargaining unit member's successful completion ~~of the period of training~~. Failure to provide evidence of successful completion will cause the Professional ~~Development/Industrial Work Experience~~ Leave to revert to leave or leave without pay.

~~F.E.~~ Bargaining unit members participating in an approved Industrial Work Experience program will submit proof of participation and satisfactory performance in the program as prescribed in the employee's application. Failure to provide evidence of successful completion will cause the ~~Professional~~/Industrial Work Experience Leave to revert to leave or leave without pay.

~~G.~~ AVTEC may pay tuition, fees, and travel expenses associated with leave taken under this article. ~~The decision to provide monetary support to the participant shall be based on the training objectives, relevance of the training to the bargaining unit member's duty assignment, and whether or not the training shall allow changes in duty assignments or assumption of additional duties and whether funds are available. Approval is at the discretion of the AVTEC Director or their designee.~~

~~Section 2: Staff Development~~

~~The director recognizes the need for the bargaining unit members to remain current in their areas of expertise. Also, that staff development is a necessary and vital tool to enhance the capability of the staff and improve the quality of the institution. To this end, the director will seek a variety of methods and means to provide staff development opportunities to all bargaining unit members.~~

Section 5: Voluntary Professional Development/Industrial Work Experience Funding Support:

~~In each year of this Agreement, a budget of \$7,500.00 shall be allocated to support Professional Development of bargaining unit members. A quarterly report of the balance and withdrawals shall be provided to the Association president. Employees wishing to access this Professional Development Fund can apply through the process outlined below.~~

~~In addition to funding Required Professional Development, AVTECthe employer may use these funds to pay tuition, fees, and travel, and other related expenses associated with attendance at and participation in voluntary Professional Development or voluntary Industrial Work Experience.~~

Employees wishing to obtain this financial support from the employer can submit an application to the PDC to consider for recommendation to the Director. Consideration for recommendation to provide monetary support to the participant shall be based on the training objectives, relevant of the training to the bargaining unit member's duty assignment, and whether or not the training shall allow changes in duty assignments or assumption of additional duties. The decision to provide monetary support to the participant shall be made by the Director. In making this decision, the Director shall consider, but is not bound by, the recommendation of the PDC.

Reimbursement Procedure

Bargaining unit members must request reimbursement for approved professional development activities immediately following completion of the activity. Standard reimbursement procedures will apply.

ARTICLE 29
POSITION OPENINGS

Bargaining unit position openings shall be publicized by any appropriate means that provides all current bargaining unit members with notice of the vacancy. Members of the bargaining unit will be given the opportunity to apply for these positions. If administrative vacancies occur, management will make efforts to apprise bargaining unit members of these opportunities.

ARTICLE 30 SUBSTITUTES

Section 1: Recruitment

The Director, or designee, shall recruit substitute bargaining unit members. Bargaining unit members and Department Chairs may submit names of individuals to the Director or designee.

Section 2: Duties

Substitutes may be hired to temporarily perform some or all of the duties of a bargaining unit member when a bargaining unit member is unavailable. A substitute may have one or more assignments in one or more subject areas or programs. Hiring preference for all substitutes shall be given to those certifiable in the subject area, however certification is not required.

Department heads will ensure offer each substitute is provided annual training that includes safety, school policies, recording attendance, accessing course materials, and appropriate activities for class time. ~~The Employer may hold a substitute orientation once a year if practical. Prospective substitutes shall be notified of such orientation as to the date, time and place of the orientation.~~

Section 3: Short Term Assignments

A person who has completed one hundred fifty (150) hours of service within the identified school year as a substitute shall be paid at the rate negotiated between management and the employee. Both parties reserve the right to renegotiate the rate of pay at this juncture. The negotiated rate of pay shall not be less than the rate being paid in the first one hundred fifty (150) hours of work.

Section 4: Long Term Assignments

If a substitute has worked for more than one hundred twenty (120) consecutive days on a defined schedule, the substitute will be eligible for the benefit provisions of this agreement (AVTECTA leave and holidays) retroactive to the first day of employment as a substitute. Eligibility for life and health insurance coverage shall begin on the first day following the completion of one hundred twenty (120) consecutive days. Nothing in the provision precludes management from identifying a substitute position as a long-term assignment at the time of creation in which case the employee will receive all benefits from the first day of employment. A substitute will be separated when the instructional assignment ends with no right of appeal.

This action is not intended to reflect negatively on the substitute. One substitute will not be changed for another substitute for the sole purpose of avoiding a substitute reaching long-term status.

Section 5: Intent

The parties agree that it is not their intent that the employment of a substitute be used to avoid hiring a permanent bargaining unit member.

The parties agree that the Employer shall make a “good faith” effort to secure an additional permanent instructor position when a substitute’s assignment exceeds ten months of employment. If a permanent position is established under this Article, the substitute holding the equivalent substitute position shall become the incumbent in the newly established permanent position, provided no permanent bargaining unit members wishes to fill the position and providing the person meets the requirements for a full time position. If there is more than one substitute filling equivalent substitute positions they shall be given equal consideration for the newly established permanent position.

AG TA - 1/9/2025; 1:30pm

KA TA- 1/9/2025 2:07pm

ARTICLE 31 LEGAL ASSISTANCE

Section 1: General.

A. Definitions:

Providing a legal defense means that Employer appoints at its expense counsel to represent member in a legal action.

Indemnification means Employer's payment of a judgment or legal obligation that member incurred as a result of member's duties for Employer.

B. Claims against a member as a state employee:

In legal actions under AS 09.50.250 against a member, AS 09.50.253 provides for certification by the Attorney General and for the action to proceed exclusively against the state if the action arose from conduct within the scope of member's employment. A request for certification under AS 09.50.253 is made as provided in AS 09.50.253 and 9 AAC 33.010 and is not subject to the grievance arbitration procedure in Article 15 of this agreement.

C. Claims against a member under a federal or state law expressly authorizing a claim against a state official:

If AS 09.50.253 does not apply because federal or state law expressly authorizes an action against a member, Employer will provide a legal defense and indemnify member as provided in Sections 2-6.

Section 2: Providing a legal defense.

Employer will provide a legal defense to a member named as a defendant or respondent in a legal action if member was acting within the scope of member's office or employment at the time of the incident out of which the action arose.

Section 3: Indemnification.

Employer will indemnify a member for a judgment or legal obligation if the judgment or legal obligation arose from member's action within the scope of member's office or employment except as provided in Section 6.

Employer may provide a legal defense without assuming the obligation to indemnify member by notifying member in writing that it is reserving its right to deny payment of the judgment or obligation under this section.

Section 4: Scope of office or employment.

Member is acting within the scope of member's office or employment if:

1. member was employed or authorized to perform the act or omission;
2. the act or omission occurred substantially within the authorized space or time of the office or employment;
3. a purpose of the act or omission was to serve the state; and

4. the act or omission did not constitute willful, reckless, or intentional misconduct, gross negligence, or malicious conduct.

Section 5: Disputes.

Employer's decision to withhold a legal defense or indemnification is subject to review by complaint for breach of contract in the superior court of this state and is not subject to the grievance arbitration procedure in Article 15 of this agreement.

Section 6: Punitive Damages.

Employer will not indemnify member for a judgment against member for punitive damages.

SOA to AVTECTA; 1/9/2025

AG TA - 1/9/2025; 1:30pm

KA TA 1/9/2025 2:08pm

ARTICLE 32

TENSE AND, NUMBER AND GENDER

As used in this Agreement, words in the present tense include the past and future tenses; words in the future tense include the present tense. Words in the singular number include the plural; words in the plural number include the singular.

~~Unless the context in which they are used clearly requires otherwise, words used in this Agreement denoting gender shall include both masculine and feminine.~~

AG TA - 3/7/2025

AVTECTA to SOA; SUPPOSAL A 3/7/25

ARTICLE 33
FAMILY TUITION WAIVER

If a class and/or program is not full 25 days or less from the start date, the dependents and spouses of bargaining unit members shall be allowed to enroll in the class tuition free.

AVTEC will waive only the tuition.

ARTICLE 34
SAVINGS AND CONFORMITY

If an article or part of an article of this Agreement should be decided by a body of competent jurisdiction or by mutual agreement of the Employer and the Association to be in violation of any Federal, State or local law or if adherence to or enforcement of an article or part of an Article should be restrained by a court of law, or if any section or article should be found not in compliance with Federal regulations where compliance is required as a condition for the receipt and expenditure of Federal funds, the remaining articles of the Agreement shall not be affected and the Employer and the Association shall convene within two (2) weeks for the purpose of negotiating a satisfactory replacement. Any provision of this Agreement found contrary to State, Federal or local law that becomes lawful during the term of the Agreement shall take effect upon its lawfulness.

ARTICLE 35
PRINTING OF THE AGREEMENT

Following ratification and signing of this Agreement, the State shall make a copy available on the Department of Law ~~Division of Personnel and Labor Relations~~ web site.

There shall be two (2) signed copies of the final agreement for the purpose of records. One shall be retained by the State and one by the Association.

ARTICLE 36 CONCLUSION OF COLLECTIVE BARGAINING AND DURATION OF AGREEMENT

This Agreement is the entire Agreement between the Employer and the Association. The parties acknowledge they have fully bargained with respect to all terms and conditions of employment and have settled them for the duration of this Agreement. This Agreement terminates all prior agreements and understandings either oral or in writing except as provided in this Article below, and concludes collective bargaining for the duration of this Agreement.

Prior to enacting any change in the terms and conditions of employment as established by a specific provision of this Agreement, the ~~Attorney General, or their designee, Commissioner of the Department of Administration~~ shall obtain the agreement of the Association in the form of a letter of understanding or agreement. Prior to enacting any change in any mandatory subject of bargaining that is not established by a specific provision of this Agreement and that was not a subject of a negotiating proposal, the Association shall be notified in advance of the proposed change thereby allowing them to negotiate that change.

This agreement shall be effective July 1, 202~~5~~² and remain in effect through June 30, 202~~5~~⁸.

- A. The parties recognize that the monetary terms of the Agreement are subject to legislative approval and funding in accordance with AS 23.40.215. Should the legislature fail to fund the terms of this agreement, the parties agree to return to negotiations in accordance with AS 23.40.070-260.
- B. The Employer shall be held free of any penalty pay or other punitive action for a period that is ninety (90) days following the appropriation by the Legislature for funding of this Agreement and funds become available.
- C. Either party may give written notice during the period September 1, 202~~4~~⁷ and November 30, 202~~4~~⁷ of its desire to negotiate a successor agreement. With mutual agreement of the parties, negotiations may commence as early as October 1, 202~~4~~⁷, but no later than December 1, 202~~4~~⁷.

STATE OF ALASKA:

AVTECTA:

Treg Taylor, Attorney General
Spokesperson
~~Paula Vrana, Commissioner~~
~~Department of Administration~~

Kari Anderson~~Shannon Ryan~~, Chief

Bobby Dunne
AVTECTA

Aaron Gelston~~Robert Bacaj~~, Chief Spokesperson

Amanda Sanchez~~Kale Tippit~~, Negotiator

SOA to AVTECTA; 3/20/2025

~~Johnny Provost~~~~Cathy LeCompte~~, Negotiator
Negotiator

~~Shannon Ryan~~~~Matt David~~~~Rachel James~~,

~~Ayla Broughton~~~~Cory Ortiz~~~~Michelle Davis~~, Negotiator
~~Negotiator~~

~~Kari Anderson, Negotiator~~~~Jamie Hall~~,

~~Tom Flynn~~~~Johnny Provost, Negotiator~~

~~Caitlin Tumlinson, NEA-Alaska Negotiator~~
~~Caitlin Tumlinson~~~~Joshua Yeh, NEA-Alaska~~
~~Negotiator~~